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Chairman’s Letter 
 
Dear Shareholder 
 
The Company’s activities in the 2010 year were dominated by compliance, negotiation and clearances related to 
Aboriginal Heritage and Native Title on three of our key projects. 
 
Following the disappointing rejections of our application for a mining lease at the Lake Disappointment Project, 
the Board carefully reviewed the impact of the decisions and considered a number of options in relation to 
maintenance of the project and strategies to take the project forward.  During the March quarter the Company 
became aware of management changes within the Western Desert Lands Aboriginal Corporation (WDLAC) with 
candidates sought for a number of senior executive positions.  In light of these developments, Reward re-initiated 
discussions with WDLAC and has made steady progress in re-establishing a conciliatory relationship. 
 
We are optimistic that an acceptable Heritage and commercial agreement can be reached with the Martu 
Traditional Owners and that the Lake Disappointment Project can be developed for the benefit of all stakeholders. 
 
We have been encouraged by the tenor and progress of negotiations with WDLAC and the Martu Traditional 
Owners.  We have maintained the Lake Disappointment Exploration Licences and continued with metallurgical 
testwork required for future production of potash from Lake Disappointment. 
 
At Lake MacKay, we have been very active in engaging the Tjamu Tjamu people and other Traditional Owner 
groups in talks aimed at reaching an agreement on terms which would pave the way for development of the 
project to proceed.  The process of engagement has been very productive and we are confident that stakeholders 
can agree on a process and terms to facilitate a Mining Agreement at Lake MacKay. 

 
During the year the Company arranged a visit by a group of Tjamu Tjamu Traditional Owners to a solar salt 
production operation at Carnarvon in Western Australia.  The visit gave the group an overview of an operation 
very similar to that proposed for the Lake Mackay Project.  
 
Company representatives attended on-country meetings, coordinated by Central Desert Native Title Services, at 
Kiwirrkurra to discuss the Lake Mackay project with the Tjamu Tjamu and other aboriginal stake holders from 
Balgo, Kintor and Papunya.  The meetings have resulted in the establishment of a Negotiation Protocol and the 
appointment of an eight person Negotiation Committee to receive and assess Mining Agreement proposals by the 
Company for a Potash recovery operation at Lake Mackay.  A proposal of essential terms for a Mining Agreement 
at Lake MacKay has been prepared by the Company and presented to the Committee for consideration.  
 
During the year the Company requested Heritage clearance from the Bidjara Traditional Owners for two drill sites 
at the Adavale Project in Queensland.  The Bidjara Traditional Owners have advised us that they wish to invoke 
Native Title Protection Conditions (NTPC’s) over all three of Reward’s tenements.  Compliance with NTPC’s will 
delay the proposed drilling programme and will require re-negotiation of access agreements with pastoralist 
landowners in the area. 
 
The Board is cognisant of the importance of the preservation of Aboriginal Heritage and the Company is ready to 
meet its commitments in this regard.  We are confident that the necessary clearances and access agreements for 
the Adavale Project will be forthcoming.   
 
The Aboriginal Heritage and Native Title matters are complicated and time consuming issues involving many 
effected parties and that require a patient, conciliatory and steadfast approach to compliance and resolution.  The 
Company will continue to address its obligations in this area with regard to the interest of all of its stakeholders. 
The Board is confident that we will be able to bring development of our potash resources to fruition in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
The Company has the largest resources of potash in Australia with JORC Indicated Resources of some 45 million 
tonnes of potassium sulphate in two world class projects.  With Australian consumption of potash at 
approximately 500 thousand tonnes per annum and no Australian production, Reward has the potential to supply 
at least all of Australia’s potash needs for 90 years. 
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Chairman’s Letter 
 

 

Lake Disappointment  - JORC Indicated Resource  24.43 Million Tonnes K2SO4 
Lake MacKay - JORC Indicated Resource 20.56 Million Tonnes of K2SO4 
 
We are excited about the prospect of advancing one or more projects closer to a production decision in the 
coming year and we are confident and optimistic of our ability to achieve this. 
 
Since joining the Board in February 2010 I have been impressed with the commitment of the Board, management 
and staff.   I look forward to being a part of the advancement of the Company as it develops its potash projects to 
production and becomes a sustainable earnings generator for its shareholders. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to commend our Managing Director, Dr Michael Ruane, and all members of 
the Reward team for their contribution to the Company in 2010. 
 
Colin McCavana 
Chairman 
 
31 March 2010  
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Operations Report 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1 

Reward Minerals Ltd 
Project Locations and Sedimentary Basins 
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Operations Report 
 

Lake Disappointment Potash Project – Western Australia 
In 2007, Reward Minerals Ltd announced a JORC compliant Indicated Resource of 24.4 million tonnes of Potassium 
Sulfate (Sulfate of Potash – SOP) within Lake Disappointment in the north west of Western Australia.  
 
The Company executed a Term Sheet agreement applicable to mining of the resource with the Martu Traditional 
Owners in March 2008.  However, execution of a follow up Mining Agreement and Indigenous Land Use Agreement 
were not achieved and the project has remained dormant since 2008.  
 
Reward Minerals Ltd has continued its endeavors to move the project forward as it is of the view that many of the 
Martu people are in favour of development provided an acceptable Heritage and commercial agreement can be 
reached. In this context the Company has approached the Martu via the Western Desert Lands Aboriginal 
Corporation for their views on resumption of negotiations.  Some encouragement has been forthcoming but no 
significant progress to the time of reporting. 
 
The Company is maintaining the Lake Disappointment Exploration Licences and continuing with metallurgical 
testwork required for future production of potassium sulfate from Lake Disappointment and Lake Mackay. 
 

Lake Mackay Potash Project, Western Australia 
Lake MacKay is a modern, playa lake with a surface area of over 2,250km2. The Lake is situated in the Gibson 
Desert, straddling the Western Australia–Northern Territory border, 50 kilometres north of the Tropic of 
Capricorn.  Reward Minerals Ltd has delineated a JORC compliant, Inferred Resource at Lake Mackay as follows: 
 

4,780,400,000 BCM* at 4.3kg of K2SO4 (SOP) per BCM for a total of 20.56 Million Tonnes of K2SO4 
 
The resource estimate was calculated on the basis of lakebed sediment volume (BCM) from surface to a depth of 
two metres and the water soluble potassium sulphate content of these sediments located within the Company’s 
tenement holdings at Lake Mackay. 
 
The next stage of development at Lake MacKay will involve infill drilling, construction of pilot ponds and pump 
testing as well as flow sheet development for the preparation of a project feasibility study.   
 
Prior to committing to this phase the Company has engaged in discussions with Tjamu Tjamu people and other 
Traditional Owner groups aimed at reaching agreement on terms which would be acceptable for development to 
proceed at Lake Mackay in the event feasibility analysis proved favourable.   
 
To assist in explanation of development plans, Reward Minerals Ltd arranged a visit by a party of ten people 
nominated by the Traditional Owners to a solar salt production operation in Western Australia during June 2010. 
The visit was designed to provide the Group with an overview of an operation very similar to a Potash recovery 
project as proposed by Reward Minerals Ltd at Lake Mackay. The visit was coordinated by Reward Minerals Ltd 
and Central Desert Native Title Services Ltd with two representatives from CDNTS accompanying the Traditional 
Owners group on the site visit.  
 
During September 2010, Company representatives attended an on-country meeting at Kiwirrkurra to discuss the 
Lake Mackay project with the Tjamu Tjamu people and other aboriginal stakeholders from Balgo, Kintor and 
Papunya.  The meeting was coordinated by Central Desert Native Title Services.  The Tjamu Tjamu people has 
appointed an eight person Negotiation Committee to receive and assess proposals by Reward Minerals Ltd in 
respect of a Mining Agreement for a Potash recovery operation at Lake Mackay.  A Negotiation Protocol was 
executed by Tjamu Tjamu people and company representatives at the September meeting.   
 
On 8th November 2010, Company representatives attended an on-country meeting at Kiwirrkurra to discuss the 
Lake Mackay project with the Tjamu Tjamu people and other aboriginal stakeholders from Balgo, Kintor and 
Papunya and with the authorised Negotiating Committee for further discussions. The meeting was coordinated by 
Central Desert Native Title Services.  In respect of a Mining Agreement for a Potash recovery operation at Lake 
Mackay, an outline of essential terms of such an agreement have been proposed by Reward Minerals Ltd and 
presented to the Committee.   
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Operations Report 
 

Lake Mackay Potash Project, Western Australia continued 
In the meantime, the Company is preparing additional presentation material to provide the Tjamu Tjamu people 
with better understanding of the project and its effect on their lands and social environment.  CDNTS are 
coordinating a base line heritage study of areas likely to be affected by Rewards’ activities both pilot and 
development scale at Lake Mackay.  The Company is gathering cost quotations for a desk top study into the likely 
environmental parameters and assessment level of a Potash development at Lake Mackay. 

 
 

 

Figure 2 
Drill Hole Location Plan – Lake MacKay, WA  
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Operations Report 
 

Potash Exploration, Queensland 
Reward Minerals Ltd holds three Exploration Permits covering 790km2 within the Adavale Basin in Queensland 
which were granted in December 2008.  
 
The area held by Reward Minerals Ltd covers an elongate northeast-trending structure west of the Warrego Fault 
and contains Bury 1 and Stafford 1 oil exploration wells (See Figure 3). In Bury 1, the salt horizon top was at a 
depth of 1,770m and salt thickness of 580m.  Minor Potash mineralisation was encountered in Bury 1 between 
1,810 – 1,811m and 1,968 – 1,971m depths.  Potassium values up to 4% were observed in thin layers (15cm) 
within these intervals. However, much of the evaporite horizon was not analysed for potassium. Figure 4 displays 
a seismic interpretation between Stafford 1 and Bury 1 drill holes which outlines the Boree Salt Member at depth 
and rising until it hits the Warrego Fault. On the down throw side of this fault, a series of minor horsts and 
grabens are developed sub paralleling the major trend direction. It has been interpreted from seismic surveys 
that the evaporite horizon is up to 900m thick, coming to within 900m of surface in places. Figure 5 displays the 
gravity low associated with the Boree Salt Member adjacent to the Warrego Fault. 
 
The exploration strategy is to drill several 1,500m to 2,000m holes to intersect the uplifted salt horizon to 
ascertain the concentration and extent of potash mineralisation within the unit. 
 
The project area is near the coal mining site of Blackall 600km inland from Gladstone. In addition to their Potash 
potential the Adavale deposits could readily provide salt for the manufacture of caustic soda which is utilised in 
substantial quantities at the Gladstone Alumina operations of Comalco Ltd. Data available suggests that annual 
imports of caustic soda to Gladstone are of the order of 1.5 million tonnes at a cost in excess of $500 million.  
  
Reward’s Adavale Potash Project tenements are over Freehold land.  The Company had executed Access 
Agreements with holders of the two pastoral leases covering the Adavale prospect area and received clearance 
from the Queensland Department of Mines & Energy. During the December 2010 quarter, in line with recent 
legislation, Reward Minerals Ltd sought Heritage clearance for the two drill sites from the relevant Traditional 
Owners of the area.  The Company has been advised that the Bidjara people wish to invoke Native Title Protection 
Conditions (NTPC’s) over all three of Reward’s tenements. 
 
The resultant delay of Heritage clearance for the proposed drill hole (Bury 1A), means the Access Agreements with 
the Freehold Title Owners have now expired and are currently being renewed.  The Company is also presently 
involved in negotiations with several parties interested in farming in to the Adavale prospect tenements.  The 
Company will advise the market and shareholders should these negotiations result in a satisfactory outcome. 
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Figure 3 
Adavale Tenement Location Plan Showing Interpreted Extent of Boree Salt and 

Cross Section Location  
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Figure 4 

Showing Interpreted Stratigraphic Location of Boree Salt Member 
 

 
Figure 5 

Gravity Image  
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Operations Report 
 

Carnarvon Basin – Potash Exploration 
During the December quarter 2009, the Company completed drill hole RWDK0902 approximately 55 kilometres 
east south east of Carnarvon and 45 kilometres east of the coast (15 kilometres due south of Carnarvon).  
Although evaporites from this and earlier holes in this program contained only low levels of Potassium, the 
presence of combined water soluble evaporite intercepts of over 100 metres within the Yaringa Evaporite member 
of the Dirk Hartog Formation which so far spans over 300 metres in thickness in RWDK0902 in combination with 
(limited) available seismic data, suggest that a substantial evaporite basin exists within Reward’s South Carnarvon 
tenements.  Examination of the stratigraphy in the three holes drilled to date also suggests that the evaporite 
horizon has a shallow dip to the west and thickens in a westerly direction toward the WA coastline (see Figure 6).   
 
The seismic data also suggests that the low point of the Dirk Hartog Formation in an east west direction is close to 
the WA coastline.  Assuming that evaporite deposition has proceeded to the Potash crystallisation stage and 
remained undisturbed, Potash minerals should be located at the low point of the evaporite basin – possibly 
between the area drilled and the coastline.  Reward’s tenement holdings cover this area. The Company has 
received the requisite statutory approvals for the drilling of a further hole 25 kilometres south west of RWDK0902 
some 6 kilometres from the WA coastline.  A decision on drilling of this hole will be made shortly.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Figure 6 
 Carnarvon Basin Drill Section, WA 
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Karinga Lakes, NT Potash Project 
Rum Jungle Resources Ltd (RUM)|Reward Minerals Ltd (RWD) 50:50 Joint Venture 
During the December 2010 quarter, Joint Venture partner Rum Jungle Resources Ltd reported that assay results 
from the two Air Core drilling programs have been received and sampling of brines from shallow costeans 
highlight significant potassium, magnesium and sulphate levels in aquifers surrounding the Karinga Creek salt 
lakes. These results are significant in that they show the spring water recharging the lakes is relatively high in key 
minerals as it enters the lakes where it evaporates to near saturation levels. 
 
The diagenetic clays are enriched in potassium minerals via entrained brine and which are widespread 
throughout the entire project area may also be amenable to a washing/leaching process to extract potassium 
minerals. 
 

Table 1 
Highlight Water Assays from Air Core Drill Holes 

 

Sample 
Number 

SG 
TDS Na K Mg SO4 Cl 

mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L mg/L 

KPB8 1.076 102,238 30,000 1,600 2,940 13,573 53,190 

KPB14 1.065 84,073 24,000 1,140 3,026 12,906 42,552 

KPB15 1.089 123,847 33,000 1,500 3,767 21,092 63,828 

KPB18 1.052 61,815 19,200 2,200 2,479 8,044 28,368 

KPB19 1.054 64,353 19,000 2,200 1,519 15,095 24,822 

KPB20 1.062 78,812 22,000 2,000 2,820 18,573 31,914 

KPB51 1.074 98,425 44,000 2,200 2,431 13,310 35,460 

 
During early December, pump flow testing was carried out on four trenches on selected salt lakes and recharge 
rates calculated. The Joint Venture is extremely pleased with recharge rates obtained even though the trenches 
for logistical reasons were located on the outer edge and surrounds of the salt lakes where recharge is expected 
to be significantly less than the central parts of the lakes. The wetter middle parts of the lakes will be tested in 
2011 once roads are constructed on the lakes to allow excavator access without getting bogged.  Results of the 
costean brine assays are yet to be received but are expected to be considerably higher in salinity (TDS) and 
Potash minerals than the Air Core hole samples shown in Table 1. 
 
The Joint Venture will ramp up exploration in 2011 to include resource drilling with a helicopter supported 
vibracore drill rig. The Joint Venture will also commence process route testing for potassium sulphate and 
schoenite bench scale production trials. Baseline environmental surveys and hydrological assessment will also 
commence. A number of sites will also be selected for trenching and pumping to trial production ponds. 
 
In-house resource calculations are currently being made for potassium sulphate and schoenite output potential 
using known lake dimensions, 2m brine thickness and assumed brine content based on assay results on brine 
samples now available. 
 
Based on exploration results from 2010 five potential potassium salt production sites have been selected with 
varying numbers of salt lakes at each site. Production trenches will be dug into the salt lakes with brine then 
pumped to solar evaporation ponds at each site. 

  



 

 
REWARD MINERALS LTD 2010 

 

12 

Operations Report 

 

 
Figure 7 

Potential Production Sites (production trenches in blue, pipelines in black) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results and Minerals Resources is based on 
information compiled by Mr Nigel Cranley who is a member of the Australian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy.  Mr Cranley is a consultant to Reward Minerals Ltd and has consented in writing to the inclusion in 
this ASX Release of matter based on the information so compiled by him in the form and context in which it 
appears.  Mr Cranley has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration to be qualified as a Competent Person as defined by the 2004 Edition of the “Australian Code for 
reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. 
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Tenement Schedule 
 

Prospect Area Tenement Area RWD 
Equity 

Registered 
Holder/Applicant 

Officer Basin EL69/2391 69 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2392 51 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/1723 54 blocks 100% TYS 

 EL(A)69/1928 70 blocks 100% TYS 

 EL(A)45/2598 70 blocks 100% TYS 

 EL(A)45/2599 70 blocks 100% TYS 

 EL(A)45/2600 70 blocks 100% TYS 

 EL(A)45/3275 188 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/3276 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/3277 200 blocks  100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/2393 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/2395 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/2396 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/2397 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)69/2398 69 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Disappointment EL45/2801 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2802 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL45/2803 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2156 53 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2157 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2158 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL69/2159 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/3285 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL(A)45/3286 200 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Auld EL45/2804 62 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Mackay EL80/3748 86 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL80/3749 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL80/3750 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL80/3751 195 blocks 100% HOL 

Lake Dora EL(A)45/3246 97 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Yalbalgo EL09/1124 17 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1441 60 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1442 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1565 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1624 199 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1625 70 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1626 188 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1627 82 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1628 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1629 200 blocks 100% HOL 

 EL09/1630 35 blocks 100% HOL/BB 
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Tenement Schedule 
 

Prospect Area Tenement Area RWD 
Equity 

Registered 
Holder/Applicant 

Tamala EL(A)09/1185 70 blocks 100% TYS 

     

Lake Amadeus EL25080 286 sblocks 100% TYS 

 EL24987 274 sblocks 50% RWD/RUM 

 EL(A)25081 61 sblocks 100% TYS 

 EL(A)28272 74 Sblks 50% RWD/RUM 

 EL(A)28273 56 Blks 50% RWD/RUM 

 EL(A)28205 39 Blks 50% RWD/RUM 

     

Adavale EPM16409 95 blocks 100% HOL 

 EPM16410 96 blocks 100% HOL 

 EPM16413 91 blocks 100% HOL 

     

Lake Dumbleyung EL(A)70/3679 21 blocks 100% HOL 
 

RWD Reward Minerals Ltd TYS Tyson Resources Pty Ltd 
HOL Holocene Pty Ltd  RUM    Rum Jungle Resources Ltd 
BB Bell Bay Investments Pty Ltd 
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Directors’ Report 
 
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the financial statements of the consolidated 
entity (hereafter referred to as the Group) for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 

Directors 
The names of the Directors of Reward Minerals Ltd during the financial year and to the date of this report are: 
 
Colin McCavana (appointed 24 February 2010) (appointed Chairman 30 November 2010) 
Michael Ruane (Executive Director) 
Cyrille J Van Heyst 
William P Brooks   
Geoffrey Lambert (retired 20 May 2010) 
 
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.  
 

Corporate Information 
Reward Minerals Ltd is a Company limited by shares and is domiciled in Australia. 
 

Principal Activities 
During the year the Group was involved in mineral exploration.  
 

Results of Operations 
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 was a loss of $1,838,142 (2009: Loss $3,182,794). 
 

Dividends 
No dividends were paid or declared since the end of the previous year.  The Directors do not recommend the 

payment of a dividend. 
 

Review of Operations 
See separate Operations Report pages 4 to 14. 
 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
There were no significant changes to the state of the consolidated entity’s affairs during the year. 
 

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year 
At the date of this report there are no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since 31 December 2010 
that has significantly affected or may significantly affect: 
 
(i) the operations of the Group; 

 
(ii) the results of its operations; or 

 
(iii) the state of affairs of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2010. 
 

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 
Further information on the likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of 
operations has been included in the Operations Report.    
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Directors Information 
 
Non Executive Director and Chairman – Colin McCavana (Appointed 24 February 2010, Appointed 
Chairman 30 November 2010) 
Mr McCavana has over 30 years experience in mining and earthmoving industries, including the management, 
acquisition, exploration and development of projects in Australia, USA, Tanzania, Mozambique and Indonesia. Mr 
McCavana has received qualifications from the Fellow Australian Institute of Company Directors and is a Member 
of Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  Mr McCavana has been a Director of Haddington Resources 
Ltd, Northern Minerals Ltd and Polaris Metals NL in the past four years. 
 
Managing Director – Dr Michael Ruane PhD MRACI 
Dr Ruane holds a PhD in Chemistry and has over 33 years experience as a Technical Consultant in the chemical 
and metallurgical fields.  He is also a Director of Intermin Resources Ltd and Heartlink Ltd and has been a Director 
of Greater Pacific Gold NL in the past four years.  Dr Ruane has been the Managing Director of Reward Minerals 
for seven years. 
 
Non Executive Director - Cyrille J Van Heyst, B.Ec. 
Mr Van Heyst has many years of experience in devising and implementing strategies in take-overs and acquisition.  
Mr Van Heyst has over 39 years experience as a Director of numerous listed companies.  He currently runs his 
own corporate advisory services, Mercator Capital Services Pty Limited.  Mr Van Heyst has been a Non Executive 
Director of Reward Minerals for eight years.  Mr Van Heyst has not been a Director of any other listed company in 
the past four years. 
 
Non Executive Director - William Paul Brooks  
Mr Brooks has been involved in the exploration and mining industry for over 28 years and has extensive industry 
knowledge and contacts in the mineral industry.  Mr Brooks and his private companies have been involved in 
many exploration joint ventures and project agreements with major and junior companies in the Goldfields.  Mr 
Brooks also has substantial interests in the hospitality industry, developing and owning two successful motel 
businesses.  Mr Brooks has been a Non Executive Director of Reward Minerals for eight years.  Mr Brooks has not 
been a Director of any other listed company in the past four years. 
 
Company Secretary - Bianca Taveira 
Ms Taveira was appointed Joint Company Secretary on 15 February 2010, Ms Taveira has been providing 
administration and secretarial services to many listed and unlisted public companies for 11 years.  
 

 Ordinary Shares 

 Direct Indirect 

Directors Interest Interest 

Colin McCavana 210,000 20,000 

Michael Ruane 356,515 18,671,637 

William P Brooks 71,500 3,450,551 

Cyrille J Van Heyst - 919,006 

 

Shares under Option 
There were no ordinary shares under option at 31 December 2010. 
 

Directors Benefits 
Since 31 December 2010 no Director of the Group has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other 
than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors 
shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Group with the Director or with a firm 
of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest. 
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Directors’ Report 
 

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 
During the financial year, the Group maintained an insurance policy which indemnifies the Directors and 
Officers of Reward Minerals Ltd in respect of any liability incurred in connection with the performance of their 
duties as Directors or Officers of the Group.  The Directors made a personal contribution toward the premium 
to satisfy Section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001.  The Group's insurers have prohibited disclosure of the 
amount of the premium payable and the level of indemnification under the insurance contract. 
 

Directors’ Meetings 
The number of directors’ meetings attended and number of written resolutions signed by each of the Directors 
of the Company during the year were: 
 
 No. of Meetings  No. of Meetings 
Director  while in office attended  

Geoffrey E Lambert  3 3 
Colin McCavana  4 3 
Michael Ruane  5 5 
William P Brooks  5 4 
Cyrille J Van Heyst  5 5 

 

Environmental Issues 
The Group’s exploration and mining operations are subject to environment regulation under the law of the 
Commonwealth and the States.  The Group holds exploration/mining tenements in Western Australia, the 
Northern Territory and Queensland thus is subject to the Mining Acts of these states each with specific conditions 
relating to environmental management.  In some instances bonds may be held by the Group’s bank in favour of 
the Minister for Mines to be released to the Group when the Minister is satisfied that conditions imposed on 
tenement licences have been met.  In some jurisdictions Cash Bonds must be lodged with the relevant 
Department until conditions are fulfilled.  There are no bonds currently in place in respect of the Group’s 
tenement holdings. 
 
The Directors advise that during the year ended 31 December 2010, no claim has been made by any competent 
authority that any environmental issues, condition of license or notice of intent has been breached, and no claim 
has been made for increase of bond. 
 
The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 which 
requires entities to report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. For the measurement period 1 
January 2010 to 31 December 2010 the Directors have assessed that there are no current reporting requirements 
but may be required to do so in the future. 
 

Remuneration Report 
The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 

A Principles Used to Determine Amount and Nature of Remuneration 
The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered. The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria 
for good reward governance practises: 

 
 competitiveness and reasonableness 
 acceptability to shareholders 
 transparency 

 
The current base remuneration for Directors was last reviewed with effect from 1 May 2007. All Director Fees are 
periodically recommended for approval by shareholders. 
 
The Group’s policy regarding executive’s remuneration is that the executives are paid a commercial salary and 
benefits based on the market rate and experience.   
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B   Details of Remuneration of Key Management Personnel of the Group 
  

Remuneration of Directors 
Details of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of each Director of the consolidated entity for 
the financial year are as follows:- 

2010 Short Term 
Post 

Employment 
Share-based 

Payments 
 

Name 
Consulting Fees 
Related Parties 

$ 

Salary 
 

$ 

Directors’ 
Fee 

$ 

Superannuation 
 

$ 

Options 
 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

Geoffrey Lambert 15,000 - - - - 15,000 

Colin McCavana 31,000 - - - - 31,000 

Michael Ruane 39,000 - - - - 39,000 

Cyrille Van Heyst 27,500 - - - - 27,500 

William Brooks - - - 22,500 - 22,500 

       

 112,500 - - 22,500 - 135,000 

     

2009 Short Term 
Post 

Employment 
Share-based 

Payments 
 

Name 
Consulting Fees 
Related Parties 

$ 

Salary 
 

$ 

Directors’ 
Fee 

$ 

Superannuation 
 

$ 

Options 
 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

Geoffrey Lambert 26,182 9,000 - - - 35,182 

Michael Ruane 75,500 - - - - 75,500 

Cyrille Van Heyst 30,000 - - - - 30,000 

William Brooks - - - 30,000 - 30,000 

       

 131,682 9,000 - 30,000 - 170,682 

 

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel  

 

There were no termination benefits paid during the year to any Director or key management personnel.  

2010 Short Term Post Employment 
Share-Based 

Payments 
 

Name 
Consulting 

Fees 
$ 

Salary 
$ 

Superannuation 
$ 

Options 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Greg Cunnold (employment 
ended 30.06.10) - 70,848 6,071 - 76,919 

Bianca Taveira - - - - - 

Stephen O’Reilly 9,441 - - - 9,441 

      

 9,441 70,848 6,071 - 86,360 

2009 Short Term Post Employment 
Share-Based 

Payments 
 

Name 
Consulting 

Fees 
$ 

Salary 
$ 

Superannuation 
$ 

Options 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Gregory Cunnold(Geologist) - 131,070 11,683 - 142,753 

Alan Downham(Project Manager) - 144,944 11,433 - 156,377 

      

 - 276,014 23,116 - 299,130 



 

 
REWARD MINERALS LTD 2010 

 

19 

Directors’ Report 
 
There were no key management personnel employed by the Company during the year for which disclosure of 
remuneration is required, apart from the remuneration details disclosed above. 
 
At the date of this report, the Company had no employees that fulfilled the role of key management personnel, 
other than those disclosed above. 
 

C Share-Based Compensation 
There was no share-based compensation during the financial year (2009: Nil). 
 

D Service Contracts 
Directors are not held under contract. Directors may be paid consulting fees at commercial rates calculated 
according to the amount of time spent on Group business. All Directors may receive consulting fees on an hourly 
basis which are paid from time to time for specialist services beyond normal duties.  
 

E Other Information 
Director and executive remuneration contains no bonus cash or option components.   
 
No Directors have received loans from the Group during the annual period. 
 

Shares under Option 
At the date of this report, there were no options on issue.  

 

Options Lapsed During the Year 
No options lapsed during the year (2009: 57,157 options). 

 

Proceedings on Behalf of Company 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or 
any part of those proceedings. 
 
The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 

Non-Audit Services 
The auditors have not provided any non-audit services to the Group in the current or prior financial years. 
 

Auditors Independence Declaration 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors have obtained a Declaration of 
Independence from BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd, the Group’s auditors, as presented on page 24 of this annual financial 
report.  
 
Dated this 31st day of March 2011 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors and signed for on behalf of the 
Board by: 
 
 

 
Michael Ruane       
Director  
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

Corporate Governance 
A description of the Group’s main corporate governance practices is set out below.  Unless otherwise stated, all 
these practices were in place for the entire year. 
 

Chairman 
The Chairman of the Board is a non-executive director who is elected by the full Board. 
 

Non-Executive Directors 
The performance of non-executive directors is reviewed by the Chairman on an ongoing basis.  Any Director 
whose performance is considered unsatisfactory is asked to resign. 
 

Audit Committee 
The Group currently does not have an Audit Committee, as matters which would normally be considered by such 
a committee come under the review of the entire Board. 
 

Explanations for Departures from Best Practice Governance Recommendations 
The Directors have considered the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations and their relevance to this consolidated entity, taking into account the Board, the management 
structure and the size of the Group.  Not all of the recommendations have been implemented due to the small 
size of the Group and the Board.  As the Group grows then adherence will become more relevant. 
 

Principle 1 – Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 
 
Corporate governance is a matter of high importance in the Group and is undertaken with due regard to all of the 
Group’s stakeholders and its role in the community.  The main corporate governance practices are described in 
this corporate governance statement.  
 
The Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as the Board) and the Company Secretary are responsible for the 
corporate governance of the Group. 
 
Directors of the Group are required to act honestly, transparently, diligently, independently, and in the best 
interests of all shareholders with the objective of increasing shareholder value. 
 
The Group operates in a framework to: 
 
 Enable the Board to provide strategic guidance for the Group and effective oversight of contractors; 
 Clarify the respective roles and responsibilities of Board members in order to facilitate Board accountability 

to the Group and shareholders; 
 Ensure a balance of authority so that no single individual has unfettered powers. 

 
The Group is directly managed by the Board, through the Executive Director, contractors are used to perform 
functions as required.   
 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to Add Value 
 

2.1 Board of Directors 
The Directors have responsibility for the overall corporate governance of the Group and for protecting the rights 
and interests of the stakeholders in the Group.   
 
 the Board should comprise between 3 and 8 Directors; 
 at least half of the Board should be non-executive Directors; 
 the Chairman should be a non-executive Director; 
 on appointment, Directors should desirably be able to serve a minimum of three years before retirement; 

and 
 the Board should comprise Directors with a broad range of skills and experience. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 

2.1 Board of Directors continued 
At the date of signing the Directors’ Report the Board consisted of one executive director and three non-executive 
directors.  Details of the Directors are set out in the Directors’ report under the heading “Directors Information.” 
 

Directors are initially appointed by the full Board, subject to election by shareholders at the next general meeting 
of shareholders, and re-election at three-yearly intervals. 
 
The most significant responsibilities and functions of the Board are: 

 
 Development of corporate strategy and performance objectives; 
 Approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management and monitoring 

of the results; 
 Oversight of the Group, including reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal 

compliance and control, codes of conduct, and legal compliance; 
 Approving and monitoring financial and other reporting; 
 Monitoring and influencing the culture, reputation and ethical standards of the Group; 
 Monitoring the Board composition, director selection and Board processes and performance; 
 Approving key executive appointments; 
 Reviewing and approving executive remuneration. 

 
The Board meets on a regular basis.  All available information in connection with items to be discussed at a 
meeting of the Board is provided to each Director before the meeting. 
 
The Chairman is deemed to be independent as his shareholding in the Group is small.  Two of the non executive 
directors are also deemed to be independent due to what is considered to be low shareholdings. 
 
One of the Directors Dr Michael Ruane is considered not to be independent due to the substantial holdings that 
companies associated with him have in the Group.  This is not a disadvantage to the Group.  The Group’s well 
being is of primary interest to Dr Ruane and his skill and experience is necessary to the Group. 
 

2.2 Board Appraisal 
The Board has a process to review and evaluate the performance of the Board. The process involves consideration 
of all of the Board’s key areas of responsibility. 
 

2.3  Remuneration of Directors 
The remuneration policy for Directors and the remuneration of each Director are set out in the Report of the 
Directors in each annual report. 
 
The maximum aggregate remuneration for all Non Executive Directors of $150,000 was approved by the 
shareholders at an Annual General Meeting held on 28 May 2004. 
 

2.4  Access to Independent Professional Advice 
The Group has a policy that each Director may seek independent legal and other professional advice at the 
Group’s expense concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfil their duties 
and responsibilities as Directors. The prior approval of the Chairman is required, which must not be unreasonably 
withheld, before incurring the expense. 
 

2.5  Related Party Transactions 
Disclosure of all related party transactions, if any, is made in the annual report. 
 
All Directors are required to disclose to the Board any other Board appointments, contracts or other interests, 
which may give rise to a conflict with the interests of the Group. 
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2.5  Related Party Transactions continued 
When a potential conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned does not receive copies of the relevant Board 
papers and withdraws from the Board meeting while such matters are considered.  Accordingly, the Director 
concerned takes no part in discussions nor exercises any influence over other members of the Board if a potential 
conflict of interest exists. 
 

2.6 Board Meetings 
The Directors are expected to attend all meetings of the Board. The frequency of Board meetings and Directors’ 
attendance at those meetings is set out in the Directors’ Report. Directors are expected to adequately prepare for 
meetings and attend and participate at Board meetings.  
 

2.7 Restrictions on Share Dealings by Directors 
Directors are subject to the Corporations Act 2001 restrictions on applying for, acquiring and disposing of 
securities in, or other relevant financial products of, the Company (or procuring another person to do so), if they 
are in possession of inside information. Inside information is that information which is not generally available, 
and which if it were generally available, a reasonable person would expect it to have a material effect on the price 
or value of the securities in, or other relevant financial products of, the Company. 
 
The Board does not place any restrictions on the Directors or staff in trading in the Company’s shares other than 
that no trading is to take place unless all information which is price sensitive is first released to the market.  It is 
the Board’s policy to keep the market informed at all times. 
 

Principle 3 – Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 
 
The Group is committed to maintaining appropriate standards of ethical behaviour required of Group Directors 
and key executives (that is, officers and employees who have the opportunity to materially influence the integrity, 
strategy and operation of the business and its financial performance) and encourage the observance of those 
standards. 
 

3.1  Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards  
The Board supports the following Code of Conduct issued by the Australian Institute of Company Directors: 

 
 A Director must act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Group as a whole; 
 A Director has a duty to use due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office and exercising the 

powers attached to that office; 
 A Director must use the powers of office for a proper purpose, in the best interests of the Group as a 

whole; 
 A Director must recognise that the primary responsibility is to the Company’s shareholders as a whole but 

should, where appropriate, have regard for the interests of all stakeholders of the Group; 
 A Director must not make improper use of information acquired as a Director; 

 A Director must not take improper advantage of the position of Director; 
 A Director must not allow personal interests, or the interests of any associated person, to conflict with the 

interests of the Group; 
 A Director has an obligation to be independent in judgement and actions and to take all reasonable steps to 

be satisfied as to the soundness of all decisions taken by the Board of Directors; 
 Confidential information received by a Director in the course of the exercise of directorial duties remains 

the property of the Group from which it was obtained and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be 
disclosed, unless that disclosure has been authorised by that Group, or the person from whom the 
information is provided, or is required by law; 

 A Director should not engage in conduct likely to bring discredit upon the Group; 
 A Director has an obligation, at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the law and with 

the principles of this Code. 
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Principle 4 – Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
 
The Group has in place a structure of review and authorisation designed to ensure the truthful and factual 
presentation of the Group’s financial position. The structure includes: 
 
 The Annual Directors Declaration can only be signed, after the receipt by the Board, of a declaration in 

writing, by the chief executive officer, chief financial officer and company secretary; 
 A process to ensure the independence and competence of the Group’s external auditors. 
 The Board believe that the Group is not of a size nor are its financial affairs of such complexity to justify the 

formation of an audit committee.  The Board as a whole undertakes the functions associated with an audit 
committee. 

 

4.1  Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer to Write to the Board 
The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary are required to state in writing to 
the Board that the Group’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Group’s 
financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. 
 
Declaration in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary that: 

 
 The financial records of the Group for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with 

section 286 of the Corporations Act; 
 The financial statements and accompanying notes, for the financial year, comply with the applicable 

accounting standards; 
 The financial statements and accompanying notes give a true and fair view; 
 Any other matter prescribed by regulations. 

 
The Annual Directors Declaration can only be signed after the receipt by the Board of a Declaration in writing, by 
the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. The Directors’ Declaration will state 
that the Directors have been given a declaration required by section 295A. 
 

4.2  Directors Report – Management Discussion and Analysis 
The Directors’ Report will include information that the members would reasonably require to make an informed 
assessment of: 

 
 The operations of the Group; 
 The financial position of the Group; 
 The Group’s business strategies and prospects for future years. 

 
Information may be omitted if it is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. If information is 
omitted, the Directors Report will state this. 
 

Principle 5 – Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
 
The Group supports the continuous disclosure policy set out in the Australian Stock Exchange Listing Rules to 
ensure that: 

 
 All investors have equal and timely access to material information concerning the Group, including its 

financial situation, performance, ownership and governance. 
 Group announcements are factual and presented in a clear and balanced way; 
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Communication with Shareholders 
All Group announcements are subject to appropriate vetting and authorisation to ensure that Group 
announcements: 

 
 Are made in a timely manner; 
 Are factual; 
 Do not omit material information; 
 Are expressed in a clear and objective manner that allows investors to assess the impact of the information 

when making investment decisions. 
 

5.1 Informing the Market 
The Board’s policy is that shareholders are informed of all major developments that are price sensitive, regardless 
of whether the information is good news or bad news. 
 

5.2 Continuous Disclosure 
The Managing Director is the nominated Australian Stock Exchange Communication Officer and is responsible for 
ensuring that the Group complies with its continuous disclosure requirements. 

 
The Managing Director is responsible for overseeing and coordinating the disclosure of information to the stock 
exchange, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public. 
 
The Group’s compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations is reviewed at each meeting of the Board of 
Directors. 
 

Principle 6 – Respect the Rights of Shareholders 
 
The Group communicates with shareholders in an open and timely manner so that the market has sufficient 
information to make informed investment decisions on the operations and results of the Group.  Shareholders 
are encouraged to submit questions at general meetings and also to participate in discussions with the Board at 
the meetings. 

 

Principle 7 – Recognise and Manage Risk 
 
Principal 7 has not been complied with, the Group does not have a published risk management policy.  A Board 
member is responsible for the day to day management of the Group and communicates directly with the other 
Board members, this ensures that any potential risk to the Group is dealt with immediately. 
 

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
 
Principal 8 has not fully been complied with, the Board has only four members, performance evaluation by 
committee is thus inappropriate.  The Board evaluates its own performance on the success of the Group on a 
yearly basis.  The Chairman evaluates the performance of the other Board members annually to assess their 
suitability and also to ensure that additional Directors are not required.  The shareholders also have the right and 
are given the opportunity to question the Board members formally at meetings or informally by direct contact. 
 
The Group does not have a remuneration policy.  The Directors’ salaries are published annually and are controlled 
by the shareholders.  The Group’s administrative activities are carried out by contractors under instruction from 
the Board.  Commercial rates are paid.  Work performed by Director controlled entities is at commercial rates and 
disclosed annually.  The Board has an unwritten policy of not having employment agreements or long term 
contracts with the Directors or associated parties.  The Group’s executives are paid a salary commensurate with 
their experience and market conditions.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 

The Directors of the Company declare that, in the opinion of the Directors: 
 
(a) The attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and 
 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, including the Interpretations, and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001. 
 
(b) The financial statements and notes thereto also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, 

as disclosed in Note 1 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements. 
 
(c) The Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
(d) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
Dated this 31st day of March 2011 
 
 

 
Michael Ruane 
Director  
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
 
  Consolidated Entity 

  

Note 

2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

    

Revenue from continuing operations 2 151,845 290,618 
Other income 3 31,183 12,544 
    
  183,028 303,162 

    
Depreciation  (6,727) (8,197) 
Audit fees  (32,628) (27,734) 
Consulting fees  (135,000) (161,682) 
Exploration expenses  (186,369) (1,510,131) 
Corporate fees  (34,200) (36,761) 
Legal expense  (280) (280) 
Employee benefits expense  (88,932) (307,654) 
Administration expenses  (156,872) (352,191) 
Native Title expenses  - (174,308) 
Impairment of assets  (1,380,162) (907,018) 
    
Loss from continuing operations before income tax  (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 
    
Income tax benefit  5 - - 
    
Loss from continuing operations  (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 
    
Other Comprehensive Income  - - 
    
Total Comprehensive (Loss) Attributable to Members of Reward 
Minerals Ltd 

 
(1,838,142) (3,182,794) 

    
    
    
Basic and diluted loss per share 16 (2.70) cents (4.89) cents 
 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2010 

 
  Consolidated Entity 

  

Note 

2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 6 2,201,913 2,066,774 
Trade and other receivables 7 324,071 1,353,559 
    
Total Current Assets  2,525,984 3,420,333 

    
Non-Current Assets    
Available-for-sale financial assets 10 3,050 2,450 
Other financial assets 11 2,114 2,114 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 9 777,343 1,668,402 
Property, plant and equipment 8 31,559 38,286 
    
Total Non-Current Assets  814,066 1,711,252 
    
Total Assets  3,340,050 5,131,585 

    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 12 406,807 345,030 
Provisions 13 - 15,170 
    
Total Current Liabilities  406,807 360,200 
    
Total Liabilities  406,807 360,200 
    
Net Assets  2,933,243 4,771,385 

    
Equity    
Contributed equity 14 10,940,464 10,940,464 

Reserves 15(b) 226,350 226,350 
Accumulated losses 15(a) (8,233,571) (6,395,429) 
    
Total Equity  2,933,243 4,771,385 

    

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
as at 31 December 2010 
 

Consolidated Entity 
Contributed 

Equity 
 

Share-Based 
Payment 
Reserve 

 
Accumulated 

Losses 
 Total Equity 

 $  $  $  $ 
        
Balance at 1 January 2009 12,746,945  226,350  (3,212,635)  9,760,660 
        
Comprehensive income for the year        

Loss for the year -  -  (3,182,794)  (3,182,794) 

        

Total Comprehensive Income -  -  (3,182,794)  (3,182,794) 

        
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 

       

        

Own shares acquired 50,000  -  -  50,000 
Share options exercised 1,097,332  -  -  1,097,332 
Return of capital (2,980,125)  -  -  (2,980,125) 
Prior year share buy-back adjustment 26,312  -  -  26,312 

        

Balance at 31 December 2009 10,940,464  226,350  (6,395,429)  4,771,385 

        
        

        
Balance at 1 January 2010 10,940,464  226,350  (6,395,429)  4,771,385 
        
Comprehensive income for the year        
Loss for the year -  -  (1,838,142)  (1,838,142) 

        
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year -  -  (1,838,142)  (1,838,142) 

        
Balance at 31 December 2010 10,940,464  226,350  (8,233,571)  2,933,243 

        
The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
 

  Consolidated Entity 

  

Note 

2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

    
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Receipts from customers  29,863 430,327 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (500,560) (1,165,031) 
Payments for mineral exploration  (40,000) (1,631,765) 
Interest received  134,939 179,793 
Native Title payments  - (133,842) 
    
Net Cash Used In Operating Activities 19(b) (375,758) (2,320,500) 
    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities    
Payments for property plant and equipment  - (4,500) 
Payments for mineral exploration areas  (489,103) (847,768) 
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash disposed  - (33,614) 
Loan advanced to Jinka Minerals Ltd  (250,000) - 
    
Net Cash Used In Investing Activities  (739,103) (885,882) 
    
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
Proceeds from share issue  - 1,147,332 
Amounts transferred to term deposit   - (1,250,000) 
    
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  - (102,668) 
    
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held  (1,114,861) (3,309,050) 
    
Cash and Cash Equivalent at the Beginning of the Financial Year  2,066,774 5,375,824 
    
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 19(a) 951,913 2,066,774 

 
The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read on conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Reporting Entity 
This financial report of Reward Minerals Ltd (‘the Company’) for the year ended 31 December 2010 comprises the 
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as ‘the consolidated entity or the Group’). 
 
Reward Minerals Ltd is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on 
the Australian Securities Exchange. 
 

The financial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors dated 31 March 2011. 
 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the consolidated entity in the 
preparation of the financial statements. 
 

1a Basis of Preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian 
Accounting Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

Compliance with IFRSs 
The financial statements of Reward Minerals Ltd also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs).   
 

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
At the date of this financial report the following standards and interpretations, which may impact the entity in the 
period of initial application, have been issued but are not yet effective: 

 
Affected 
Standard 

Title of Affected 
Standard 

Nature of Change  Application  
Date * 

Impact on Initial Application 

AASB 2009-5  
(issued May 
2009) 
 
 
 
- AASB 107 
 
 
 
 
 
 
- AASB 5 
 
 

Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the 
Annual Improvements 
Process 
 
Statement of Cash flows 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Non-Current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations 
 
 

Not urgent, but necessary changes to 
AIFRS as a result of the IASB’s 2008 
annual improvement process. 
 
 
 
Clarifies that only expenditures that 
result in a recognised asset in the 
statement of financial position are 
eligible for classification as cash flows 
from investing activities. 
 
 
Clarifies that disclosures required for 
non-current assets classified as held 
for sale are limited to those required 
by AASB 5 unless disclosures are 
specifically required for these assets 
by other AASB’s. 

1 January 
2010 

 
 
 
 

1 January 
2010 

 
 
 
 
 

1 January 
2010 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Initial adoption of this 
amendment will have no impact 
as the entity only recognises cash 
flows from investing activities for 
expenditures that result in a 
recognised asset in the statement 
of financial position. 
 
There will be no impact as these 
requirements are only required to 
be applied prospectively to 
disclosures for non-current assets 
classified as held for sale. 
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New Accounting Standards and Interpretations continued 
 

Affected 
Standard 

Title of Affected 
Standard 

Nature of Change Application  
Date * 

Impact on Initial Application 

AASB 2009-8 
(issued July 
2009) 

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards-Group Cash-
Settled Share based 
Payment transactions  

Clarifies the scope and accounting for 
group cash-settled share-based 
payment transactions in the 
individual financial statements of an 
entity receiving goods/services when 
that entity has no obligation to settle 
the share-based payment transaction. 
Supersedes Interpretation 8 Scope of 
AASB 2 and Interpretation 11 AASB 2 
Group and Treasury Share 
Transactions 

1 January 
2010 

No impact as there are no share-
based payment transactions 
where the entity receives goods 
or services with no 
corresponding obligation to 
settle the share-based payment 
transaction.  

AASB 2009-10  Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards-Classification of 
Rights Issues [AASB 132] 

Clarifies that such transaction where 
an issue of rights or options to a fixed 
number of shares for a fixed amount 
in a different currency to the 
functional currency must be treated 
as equity.  

1 February 
2010 

There will be no impact as the 
entity does not issue rights or 
options to a fixed numbers of 
shares for a fixed amount in a 
different currency to the 
functional currency. 

AASB 9  
(issued 
December 
2009) 

Financial Instruments  Amends the requirements for 
classification and measurement of 
financial assets  

1 January 
2013 

Due to the recent release of these 
amendments and that adoption is 
only mandatory for the 30 June 
2014 year end, the entity has not 
yet made an assessment of the 
impact of these amendments. 

AASB 124 
(issued 
December 
2009) 

Related Party Disclosures  Clarifies the definition of a related 
party  

1 January 
2011 

As this a disclosure standard only, 
there will be no impact on 
amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 

AASB 
Interpretation 
19 (issued 
December 
2009) 

Extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments  

Equity instruments issued to a 
creditor to extinguish all or part of a 
financial liability are ‘consideration 
paid’ to be recognised at the fair value 
of the equity instruments issued, 
unless their fair value cannot be 
measured reliably, in which case they 
are measured at the fair value of the 
debt extinguished.  Any difference 
between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability extinguished and the 
‘consideration paid’ is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

1 July  
2010 

There will be no impact as the 
entity has not undertaken any 
debt for equity swaps. 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments 
Disclosures 

Deletes various disclosures relating to 
credit risk, renegotiated loans and 
receivables and the fair value of 
collateral held 

1 January 
2011 

There will be no impact on initial 
adoption to amounts recognised 
in the financial statement as the 
amendments result in fewer 
disclosures. 
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New Accounting Standards and Interpretations continued 
The Group does not anticipate the early adoption of any of the above Australian Accounting Standards. 
  

Historical Cost Convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. 
 

Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 27. 
 

1b Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Reward Minerals Ltd and its controlled 
entity, Holocene Pty Ltd, and its former controlled entity, Jinka Minerals Limited, to the date of its disposal.  
Control exists where the consolidated entity has the capacity to dominate the decision-making in relation to the 
financial and operating policies of another entity so that the other entity operates with the consolidated entity to 
achieve the objectives of the consolidated entity.  All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in 
the consolidated entity, including any unrealised profits and losses have been eliminated on consolidation.  
 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of the consolidated entities are shown separately in the 
consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and consolidated Statement of Financial Position respectively. 
 

Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income from the date on which control commences. Where control ceases, de-
consolidation occurs from that date.  
 

Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.  
Under this method, the consolidated entity’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is 
recognised in the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, and its share of post-acquisition movements 
in reserves is recognised in consolidated reserves.  The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted 
against the cost of the investment.  Associates are those entities over which the economic entity exercises 
significant influence, but not control. Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less impairment losses.  
 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The consolidated financial statements are prepared by 
combining the financial statements of all the entities that comprise the consolidated entity, being Reward 
Minerals Ltd (“Company” or “Parent Entity”) and its subsidiaries as defined in AASB 127: Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements. Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.   
 
The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on 
which the Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to control such entity. Acquisitions 
of entities are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-company balances and transactions, income and 
expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.   
 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial report of Reward Minerals Ltd.  
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1b Principles of Consolidation continued 
 
Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding between 20% and 50% of voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for 
in the parent financial statements using the cost method and in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method after initially being recognised at cost.  
 
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised in the consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in 
consolidated reserves.  The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the cost of the 
investment.  Associates are those entities over which the economic entity exercises significant influence, but not 
control. 
 
When the consolidated entity’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured long term receivables, the consolidated entity does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.  
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the consolidated entity and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the consolidated entity’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
All intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.   
 
Changes in ownership interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group.  A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interest in the subsidiary.  Any 
differences between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or 
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Reward Minerals Ltd. 
 
When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.  The fair value is the 
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
jointly controlled entity or financial asset.  In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities.  This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Changes in accounting policy 
The Group has changed its accounting policy for transactions with non-controlling interests and the accounting for 
loss of control, joint control or significant influence from 1 July 2009 when a revised AASB 127 consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements became operative.   
 
Previously transactions with non-controlling interests were treated as transactions with parties external to the 
Group.  Disposals therefore resulted in gains or losses in profit or loss and purchases resulted in the recognition 
of goodwill.  On disposal or partial disposal, a proportionate interest in reserves attributable to the subsidiary 
were reclassified to profit or loss or directly to retained earnings. 
 
Previously when the Group ceased to have control, joint control or significant influence over an entity, the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date of control, joint control or significant influence ceased became its 
cost for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interests as associates, jointly controlled entity 
or financial assets. 
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1b Principles of Consolidation continued 
 
Changes in accounting policy continued 
The Group has applied the new accounting policy retrospectively to transactions occurring on or after 1 July 2009.  
As a consequence, no adjustments were necessary to any of the amounts previously recognised in the financial 
statements. 
 

1c Income Tax 
The consolidated entity adopts the liability method of tax-effect accounting whereby the income tax expense is 
based on the profit adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  No deferred 
income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, 
where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
liability is settled.  Deferred tax is credited in the Statement of Comprehensive Income except where it relates to 
items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

 
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that 
no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the consolidated entity will 
derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of 
deductibility imposed by the law. 
 
Reward Minerals Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiary have not formed an income tax consolidated 
Group under the Tax Consolidation Regime.  

 
1d Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns, trade allowances and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  Revenue is recognised for 
major business activities as follows: 
 
(i) Interest Income 
 Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 

the financial assets. 
 
(ii) Other Services 
 Other debtors are recognised at the amount receivable and are due for settlement within 30 days from the 

end of the month in which services were provided. 
 

1e Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. 
These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful 
development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable 
assessment of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against operating results in the year in 
which the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 
When production commences the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are classified as 
development costs and amortised over the life of the project area according to the rate of depletion of the 
economically recoverable reserves. 
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1e Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure continued 
Where independent valuations of areas of interest have been obtained, these are brought to account.  Subsequent 
expenditure on re-valued areas of interest is accounted for in accordance with the above principles. 
 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 
At 31 December 2010 the Directors considered that the carrying value of the mineral tenement interests of the 
consolidated entity was as shown in the Statement of Financial Position and no further impairments arises other 
than that already recognised. 
 

1f Property, Plant and Equipment 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount from these assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net 
cash flows that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected net cash 
flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 

 

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all plant and equipment is depreciated on a diminishing value over their useful lives to 
the consolidated entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 
Class of Fixed Asset   Depreciation Rate 
Plant and Equipment   10-20% 
 
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 
 
An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These gains and 
losses are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  When revalued assets are sold, amounts included 
in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
 

1g Trade Receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less 
allowance for doubtful debts.  Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of 
recognition. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts that are known to be uncollectible are 
written off.  An allowance for bad debts is established when there is objective evidence that the consolidated 
entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the 
provision is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. They are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently at amortised cost.   
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1g Trade Receivables continued 
Deposits with maturity periods in excess of three months but less than twelve months are included in receivables 
and not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 

1h Trade and Other Payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of 
the financial year and which are unpaid, together with assets ordered before the end of the financial year.  The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 

1i Employee Entitlements 
 
(i) Wages, salaries and annual and sick leave 
 A liability for wages, salaries and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 

is recognised in other payables and is measured as the amount unpaid at balance date at current pay rates 
in respect of employees’ services up to that date.  No liability exists for sick leave. 

 
(ii) Long service leave 
 A liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and is measured as the 

present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees’ up to 
balance date.   

 
No such employee entitlements exist at 31 December 2010. 

 

1j Equity-Based Payments 
Equity-based compensation benefits are provided to Directors and executives. 
 
The fair value of options granted to Directors and executives is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in contributed equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the 
period during which the Directors and/or executives becomes unconditionally entitled to the options. 
 
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using an option pricing model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-
tradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, 
the expected divided yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 

1k Earnings per share 
(i) Basic earnings per share 
 Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, 

excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the year. 

 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
 Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 

into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

1l Segment Reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the steering committee that 
makes strategic decisions. 
 

The standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on the same 
basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.  The segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.  
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1l Segment Reporting continued 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components.  All operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Managing 
Director to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for 
which discrete financial information is available. 
 

Segment results that are reported to the Managing Director include items directly attributable to a segment as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets 
(primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities. 
 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, 
and intangible assets other than goodwill. 

 

1m Business Combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. Consideration is measured 
at the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group on 
acquisition date. Consideration also includes the acquisition date fair values of any contingent consideration 
arrangements, any pre-existing equity interests in the acquiree and share-based payment awards of the acquiree 
that are required to be replaced in a business combination. The acquisition date is the date on which the Group 
obtains control of the acquiree. Where equity instruments are issued as part of the consideration, the value of the 
equity instruments is their published market price at the acquisition date unless, in rare circumstances it can be 
demonstrated that the published price at acquisition date is not fair value and that other evidence and valuation 
methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. 
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations are, with 
limited exceptions, initially measured at their fair values at acquisition date. Goodwill represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred and the amount of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree over fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired. If the consideration and non-controlling interest of the acquiree is less than the 
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss as a bargain purchase 
price, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired. 
 
For each business combination, the Group measures non-controlling interests at either fair value or at the non-
controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 
 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments 
are recognised directly in equity. 
 
Where the Group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an equity accounted 
investment in associate or jointly controlled entity, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Assets and liabilities from business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are 
accounted for at the carrying amounts recognised in the Group's controlling shareholder's consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
The Group adopted AASB 3 Business Combinations (2008) and AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (2008) for business combinations occurring on or after 1 July 2009. All business combinations 
occurring on or after 1 July 2009 have been accounted for using the acquisition method. The change in accounting 
policy has been applied prospectively so no retrospective adjustments have been made to business combinations 
that occurred prior to 1 July 2009 in these financial statements. However, there are some significant changes to 
the way business combinations are accounted for from 1 July 2009.  
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1m Business Combinations continued 
Major changes include:  
 

 -  Contingent consideration classified as debt is remeasured through profit or loss instead of adjusting the 
purchase consideration (goodwill).  

 

 -  Acquisition-related costs are expensed immediately, rather than being included as part of the purchase 
consideration. Non-controlling interests can be measured on an acquisition by acquisition basis at either 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

 

-  If the Group recognises deferred tax assets after the initial accounting is complete, there will be no 
adjustment to goodwill and this will result in increased profits in the period when these deferred tax assets 
are recognised.  

 

-  Any intangible asset recognised on a business combination is amortised.   
 

1n Impairment of Assets 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). 
 

1o Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 

1p Investments and Other Financial Assets 
The consolidated entity classifies its investments as available-for-sale financial assets and other financial assets. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 
 

Available-for-sale Financial Assets 
These comprise listed equity securities.  They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to 
dispose of the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of non monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the 
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or 
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
gains and losses from investment securities.  
 

Other Financial Assets 
These comprise investments in subsidiaries. 
 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade-date on which the consolidated entity commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. 
These include reference to the fair values of recent arm’s length transactions, involving the same instruments or 
other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and pricing models to reflect the 
issuer’s specific circumstances.  
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Other Financial Assets continued 
The consolidated entity assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
Group of financial assets has been impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether 
the security is impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – 
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on 
that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Impairment losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
on equity instruments are not reversed through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

1q Fair Value Estimation 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or 
for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques. 
 
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. 
 

1r Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount has been reliably estimated. 
 

1s GST 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated as inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow. 
 

1t Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for 
the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 
 
If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, e.g. as the result of a share buy-back, those instruments are 
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of 
income taxes) is recognised directly in equity. 

 

1u Comparative Figure 
When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
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  Consolidated Entity 

  2010 

$ 

2009 

$ 

2 REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS     

Interest income  151,845 170,878 
Administration income  - 119,740 
    
  151,845 290,618 

    

3 OTHER INCOME    

Refund of bond  22,000 - 
Fuel rebate  8,583 11,394 
Revaluation gain on available for sale financial assets  600 1,150 

    
  31,183 12,544 

    

4 SEGMENT INFORMATION    

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board that are used 
to make strategic decisions. 
 

The Board considers that the reportable segments are defined by the nature of the exploration activities. As such 
there were two reportable segments being Potash and Gold tenements in prior year. However, due to the disposal 
of a subsidiary in the prior year, the Group no longer has any Gold tenements. 
 

During the year, the Group considers that it has only operated in one segment, being Potash mineral exploration 
within Australia. 

 
 Potash  Gold  Total 

2010 $  $  $ 
Revenue -  -  - 
Exploration expenditure 1,566,531  -  1,550,857 
      
Actual exploration expenditure 1,566,531  -  1,550,857 
      
Loss before income tax 1,566,531  -  1,550,857 
      
Actual Loss before Income tax 1,566,531  -  1,550,857 
      
Total Segment Assets 777,343    777,343 

      
2009      
Revenue -  -  - 
Exploration expenditure 2,457,020  450,285  2,907,305 
Less: Costs recovered on transfer of assets to former subsidiary -  (450,285)  (450,285) 
      
Actual exploration expenditure 2,457,020  -  2,457,020 
      
Loss before income tax (2,797,055)  (456,551)  (3,253,606) 
Less: Costs recovered on transfer of assets to former subsidiary -  456,551  456,551 
      
Actual Loss before Income tax (2,797,055)  -  (2,797,055) 
      
Total Segment Assets 1,668,402  -  1,668,402 
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued 

    Consolidated Entity 
    2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
(a) Segment revenue 

Segment revenue reconciles to revenue from continuing operations as follows: 
 

 Segment revenue    - - 
 Interest revenue    151,845 170,878 
 Other revenue    31,183 132,284 
      
 Revenue from Continuing Operations    183,028 303,162 

      
(b) Segment loss      

Segment loss reconciles to total comprehensive income as follows:   
      
 Segment Loss before Income Tax    (1,566,531) (2,797,055) 
 Interest revenue    151,845 170,878 
 Unallocated costs net of other revenue    (423,456) (556,617) 
      
 Loss before Income Tax    (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 

      
(c) Segment Assets     

Segment assets reconcile to total assets as follows:    
Segment assets    777,343 1,668,402 
Unallocated assets    2,562,707 3,463,183 

      
 Total Assets    3,340,050 5,131,585 

      
(d)  Segment Liabilities 
The Group’s liabilities are not reported to management on an individual segment basis, but rather reported on a 
consolidated basis. 
   

5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE    

(a)  Income tax expense    
Current tax  - - 
Deferred tax  - - 
    
  - - 

    
(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 

payable: 
   

Loss before income tax   (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 
Prima facie income tax at 30% (2009: 30%)  (551,443) (954,838) 
Tax-effect of amounts not assessable in calculating taxable income:    

Miscellaneous  (10,609) (345) 
Tax-effect of amounts not deductible in calculating taxable 
income 

  
414,049 

 
272,105 

    
  (148,003) (683,078) 
    
Tax loss not recognised  (148,003) (683,078) 

    
Income tax expense/(benefit)  - - 
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5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE continued 
 
    Consolidated Entity 
    2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
(c) Tax losses:    
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised 

  
6,417,183 

 
5,923,840 

    

Potential tax benefit @ 30%  1,925,155 1,777,152 

    

(d) Unrecognised temporary differences    
Deferred tax assets and liabilities not recognised relate to the 
following: 

   

Deferred tax assets  - - 
Tax losses  6,417,183 5,923,840 
Capital raising costs  - - 
Other temporary differences  - - 
Deferred tax liabilities  - - 
Capitalised exploration expenditure  - - 
Other temporary differences  - - 
    
Net Deferred Tax Assets  6,417,183 5,923,840 

    
The deferred tax assets arising from these balances has not been 
recognised as an asset because recovery of tax losses is not probable at 
this point in time. 
 
The potential tax benefit will only be obtained if the relevant company 
derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient 
to enable the benefit to be realised; and 
 
i. the relevant company continues to comply with the conditions for 

deductibility imposed by the law; and 
 

ii. no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the relevant 
company in realising the benefit. 

   

    

6 CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

   

Cash at bank  951,913 816,774 
Term deposit  1,250,000 1,250,000 
    
  2,201,913 2,066,774 

 
The term deposit carries an interest rate of 6% (2009: 4.25%) and matures on 23 January 2011.  Refer to Note 26 for 
Financial Risk considerations.  Term deposits with maturity over three months are included in current Receivables. 
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  Consolidated Entity 

  2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

7 CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES 

   

Prepayments  7,438 6,737 
GST assets  35,916 83,730 
Accrued interest  29,261 12,622 
Loan to former subsidiary*  250,000 - 
Trade and other receivables  1,456 470 
Term deposit  - 1,250,000 
    
  324,071 1,353,559 

 
* The loan to the former subsidiary is capped at $500,000 with an interest rate of 10% p.a. for a term of 6 
months. 
 
No receivables are impaired or past due but not impaired. Refer to Note 26 for Financial Risk considerations. The 
carrying value of all receivables approximates their fair value.  
 
The future realisation of these non-current assets is dependent on the granting of native title rights and 
obtaining funding necessary to commercialise the resources or realisation through sale. 

    

8 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT 

   

Plant and equipment at cost  83,748 83,748 
Less provision for depreciation  (52,189) (45,462) 
    
  31,559 38,286 

Reconciliations:    
Plant and Equipment    
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  38,286 46,483 
Additions  - 4,500 
Transferred on disposal of subsidiary  - (4,500) 
Depreciation  (6,727) (8,197) 

    
Carrying amount at the end of the year  31,559 38,286 

    

9 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION AND 
EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

   

Mining tenements at cost   777,346 1,668,402 
    
  777,343 1,668,402 

Tenements    
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  1,668,402 4,764,686 
Additions  489,103 847,768 
Impairment expense / Exploration costs and royalty written off (1,380,162) (907,018) 
In-specie distribution / transfer to former subsidiary – Jinka Minerals Ltd - (3,037,034) 
    
Carrying amount at the end of the year  777,343 1,668,402 

 
The future realisation of these non-current assets is dependent on the granting of native title rights and obtaining 
funding necessary to commercialise the resources or realisation through sale. Please refer to the Chairman’s 
letter, Operations Report and Directors’ Report for further details.   
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  Consolidated Entity 

  2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

10 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – AVAILABLE FOR SALE 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

   

Listed equity securities  3,050 2,450 
    
  3,050 2,450 

    
These financial assets are carried at fair value.    
    
Impairment and risk exposure    
See Note 26.    
    

11 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS   

Shares in subsidiaries (Note 25)  - - 
Security deposits  2,000 2,000 
Shares in unlisted entity  114 114 
    
  2,114 2,114 

 
The net assets of the Group are less than the net assets of the Parent.  The Directors consider there is no 
impairment and the value of its investments will be recovered through the future development of the tenements 
held by its subsidiary.  
    

12 CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   

Trade payables  406,807 284,202 
Other payables  - 26,459 
GST liability  - 34,369 
    
  406,807 345,030 

    

13 PROVISIONS    

Employee benefits  - 15,170 
    
  - 15,170 

14 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY    

14a Share capital    

At the beginning of the financial year  10,940,464 12,746,945 
Shares issued during the year  - 50,000 
Return of capital – refer to note 12  - (2,980,125) 
Options exercised during the year  - 1,097,332 
Prior year share buy-back adjustment  - 26,312 
    
At the End of the Financial Year  10,940,464 10,940,464 

    
  No. Shares No. Shares 
At the beginning of the financial year  67,958,996 60,532,264 
Shares issued during the year  - 150,000 
Options exercised during the year  - 7,276,732 
    
At the End of the Financial Year  67,958,996 67,958,996 
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14 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY continued 

14b Terms and Condition of Contributed Equity 
Ordinary Shares 
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid 
up on shares held. 
 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company. 

 

  2010 
Options 

2009 
Options 

14c Movement in Listed Options    

Balance at beginning of year  - 7,335,889 
Exercised during the year  - (7,276,732) 
Options lapsed during the year  - (59,157) 

    
Balance at End of Year  - - 

    

14d Movement in Unlisted Options    

Balance at beginning of year  - - 
Exercised during the year  - - 

    
Balance at End of Year  - - 

    
Listed Options Details at 31 December 2010    
There are no options over ordinary shares in the Company at 31 December 2010. 

 
14e Capital Risk Management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that they can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, pay dividends or return to 
capital to shareholders.   
 
Capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the Statement of Financial Position, and is monitored on the basis of 
funding exploration activities. 

  Consolidated Entity 

  
 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

15 RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES    

15a Accumulated Losses    

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year  (6,395,429) (3,212,635) 
Net loss for the year  (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 
    
Accumulated Losses at the End of the Year  (8,233,571) (6,395,429) 
    

15b Reserves    

Share-Based Payments Reserve    
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. As at 31 December 2010 
all options to which the reserve relates have been exercised. 
 
Balance at the Beginning and End of the Year  226,350 226,350 
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  Consolidated Entity 

  
 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

16 (LOSS) PER SHARE    

Loss after tax attributable to members of Reward Minerals Ltd   (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 
    
Basic loss per share  (2.70) cents (4.89) cents 
Diluted loss per share  - - 
 
Unexercised options are not dilutive as there is a basic loss per share.  

   

    

  
Number of 

Shares 
Numbers of 

Shares 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the 
calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share  67,958,996 65,130,097 
    
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share    

Options:    
Listed options  - - 
Unlisted options  - - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares 
used as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share  67,958,996 65,130,097 

    

16a  Basic Earnings/(Loss) Per Share    

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is determined by dividing the operating loss after income tax attributable to 
members of Reward Minerals Ltd by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

    

16b Diluted Earnings/(Loss) Per Share    

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings/(loss) per share 
by taking into account amounts unpaid on ordinary shares and any change in earnings per share that will 
probably arise from the exercise of options outstanding during the financial year. 

   

  Consolidated Entity 

  
 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

17 RENUMERATION OF AUDITORS    

Remuneration for audit or review of the financial reports of the Group:    
For auditing the financial statements  32,628 27,734 

    
  32,628 27,734 

    

No non-audit services have been provided to the Group by the auditor.  
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18 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
 

18a Details of Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
 
 Economy entity 

 2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Short-term benefits 183,348 407,696 
Post-employment benefits 28,571 53,116 
Share based payment - - 

   

 211,919 460,812 

 

18b Key Management Personnel Interests in the Shares and Options of the 
Company 

 

Options 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each Key 
Management Personnel of Reward Minerals Ltd including their personally related parties are set out below: 
 

2010 
Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Acquired 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 
at the end 
of the year 

C McCavana - - - - - - 
M Ruane - - - - - - 
C Van Heyst - - - - - - 
W Brooks - - - - - - 
G Lambert - - - - - - 
G Cunnold - - - - - - 
       
 - - - - - - 

 

2009 
Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Acquired 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 
at the end 
of the year 

C McCavana 100,000 - 100,000 - - - 
M Ruane 841,567 - 841,540 27 - - 
C Van Heyst 50,000 - 50,000 - - - 
W Brooks 1,058,494 - 1,058,494 - - - 
G Lambert 555,000 - 555,000 - - - 
G Cunnold - - - - - - 
       
 2,605,061 - 2,605,034 27 - - 
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18b Key Management Personnel Interests in the Shares and Options of the 

Company continued 
 
Shares 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Key Management Personnel of 
Reward Minerals Ltd, including their personally related parties, are set out below.  There were no shares 
granted as compensation during the year. 
 

2010 
Balance at the 

start of the year 

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of 
options 

Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

C McCavana 230,000 - - 230,000 
M Ruane 26,937,654 - (7,909,502) 19,028,152 
C Van Heyst 919,006 - - 919,006 
W Brooks  3,522,051 - - 3,522,051 
G Lambert 1,180,000 - - 1,180,000 
G Cunnold 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 
     
 34,788,711 - (7,909,502) 26,879,209 

 

2009 
Balance at the 

start of the year 

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of 
options 

Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

C McCavana 80,000 100,000 50,000 230,000 

M Ruane 25,923,114 1,504,670 (490,130) 26,937,654 

C Van Heyst 769,006 50,000 100,000 919,006 

W Brooks 2,463,557 1,058,494 - 3,522,051 

G Lambert 625,000 555,000 - 1,180,000 

G Cunnold 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

     

 31,860,677 3,268,164 (340,130) 34,788,711 

 
There were no loans either to or from Key Management Personnel at 31 December 2010 or 31 December 
2009.  See note 25 for information on other transactions with key management personnel and related 
parties. 
 

18c Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
Refer to Note 23. 
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 Consolidated Entity 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

   

19 NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

19a Reconciliation of Cash 
For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand 
and in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in 
the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement 
of Financial Position as follows: 

  

   
Cash and short term deposits 2,201,913 2,066,774 
    
  2,201,913 2,066,774 

    

19b Reconciliation of Net Cash used In Operating 
Activities to Operating Loss after Income Tax 

  

(Loss) for the year (1,838,142) (3,182,794) 
Loss recorded by disposed  - (372,286) 
Depreciation 6727 8,197 
Revaluation of held for sale investments (600) (1,150) 
Impairment of assets / exploration costs expensed including in investing 
activities 

 
1,380,162 

 
907,018 

Net cash flows from operating activities before   
change in assets and liabilities (451,853) (2,641,015) 

    
Change in assets and liabilities during the financial year:   
Receivables (18,326) 330,001 
Payables 94,421 11,712 
Provisions - (21,198) 

    
Net cash outflow from operating activities (375,758) (2,320,500) 

 

20 FINANCE FACILITIES 
No credit standby facility arrangement or loan facilities existed at 31 December 2010. 
 

21 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 
21a Exploration Commitments 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration and mining tenements, the Group has the following 
discretionary exploration expenditure requirements up until expiry of leases.  These obligations are not provided 
for in the financial statements and are payable: 
 Consolidated Entity 

  
 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Not later than one year  1,354,000 1,000,000 
Later than one year but not later than two years  1,354,000 1,000,000 
Later than two years but not later than five years  1,400,000 1,000,000 
Later than five years  1,400,000 1,000,000 

    
  5,508,000 4,000,000 
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22 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE 
Colin McCavana was appointed as a Director on 24 February 2010. Other than the appointment of a new Director, at 
the date of the Director’s declaration there is no matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 December 2010 that 
has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Group, subsequent to 31 December 2010, other than those mentioned in the Director’s Report. 
 

23 RELATED PARTIES 
23a Directors 
Mr GE Lambert is associated with Fayara Securities Pty Ltd a company which received payments of $15,000 (2009: 
$35,182) for consulting services. 
 
Mr M Ruane is associated with Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd a company which received payments of $39,000 (2009: 
$75,500) for consulting services. 

 
Mr W Brooks is associated with Bill Brooks Pty Ltd as trustee for Bill Brooks Super Trust, which received payment 
of $22,500 (2009: $30,000) for consulting services. 
 
Mr C Van Heyst is associated with Mercator Capital Services Pty Ltd a company which received payments of 
$27,500 (2009: $30,000) for consulting services. 
 
Mr McCavana is associated with Bell Bay Investments Ltd a company which received payments of $31,000 (2009: 
Nil) for consulting services. 
 
Certain blocks within Prospect Areas for which the Group is the equity holder are in the name of Tyson Resources, 
a related entity to the Group. Quantification of the value associated with these blocks cannot be determined as 
they are managed on a joint basis. Refer to the Tenement Schedule in the Review of Operations for further details. 
 
Jinka Minerals Ltd, ceased to be a subsidiary of Reward Minerals Ltd on 27 July 2009.  In this financial period Jinka 
Minerals Ltd received $250,000 in loans from Reward Minerals Ltd and as at 31 December 2010 $250,000 is 
currently outstanding. The loan to Jinka Minerals Ltd is capped at $500,000 with an interest rate of 10% p.a. for a 
term of 6 months.  
 

24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
There are no contingent liabilities at reporting date (2009: Nil). 

 
25 INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 

   Equity Holding 
 

Name of Entity 
Country of 

Incorporation 
 

Class of Shares 
2010 

% 
2009 

% 
Holocene Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

 

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 
cash flow interest rate risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance 
of the consolidated entity.  
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued 
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the 
accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated Entity 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Financial Assets Note  
Cash and cash equivalents 6 2,201,913 2,066,774 
Loans and receivables 7 324,071 1,269,829 
Available for sale financial assets-at fair value 10 3,050 2,450 
    
Total Financial Assets  2,529,034 3,339,053 

    
Financial Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at amortised cost    

Trade and other payables 12 406,807 310,661 
    
Total Financial Liabilities  406,807 310,661 

 
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors, who identify, evaluate and manage financial risks as 
they consider appropriate. 
 

26a Market Risk 
 

(i)  Price Risk 
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Group and 
classified on the Statement of Financial Position as available-for-sale. As this investment is not considered 
material to the Group, no sensitivity analysis has been performed. The Group is not exposed to commodity 
price risk or foreign exchange borrowings. 

 
(ii)  Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk 

Refer to (d) below. 
 

26b Credit Risk 
The Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk.  Credit risk is managed by the Board and 
arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposure including outstanding receivables and committed 
transactions. 
 
All cash balances held at banks are held at internationally recognised institutions. The majority of receivables are 
immaterial to the Group.  Given this, the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due or impaired can 
be assessed by reference to historical information about default rates. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as 
summarised at the start of Note 26. 
 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to 
external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates: Financial assets 
that are neither past due and not impaired are as follows: 
 

 Consolidated Entity 

2010 2009 

 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents   

‘AA’ S&P rating 2,201,913 2,066,774 

  



 

 
REWARD MINERALS LTD 2010 

 

55 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued 
 

26c Liquidity Risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and, the 
availability of funding through the ability to raise further equity or through related party entities. Due to the 
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Board aims at maintaining flexibility in funding through 
management of its cash resources.  The Group has no financial liabilities at the year-end other than normal trade 
and other payables incurred in the general course of business.  All financial liabilities mature in less than 6 
months. 

 
26d Cash Flow Risk 
As the Group has significant interest-bearing assets in the form of cash, the Group's income and operating cash 
flows are exposed to changes in market interest rates.   
 
Based on the year-end balances, a 1% increase in interest rates (projected increase in cash rate for 2010 calendar 
year, applied for a full financial year, would have reduced the consolidated loss by $22,019 (2009: $43,463) and 
increased the cash balances by a corresponding amount.  There were no other amounts included in Net Assets 
subject to material interest rate risks. 

 
Fair value hierarchy: 
 
The different levels of financial instruments carried at fair value have been defined as follows: 

 
 Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities; 
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

 either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 
 Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

 
All Available-for-Sale assets (note 10) held are Level 1 hierarchy: 2010: $3,050;  2009:  $2,450 
All Other Financial Assets (note 11) held are Level 3 hierarchy:  2010: $114;    2009:  $114 

 

27 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
i) Significant accounting judgements 
 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements: 
 
Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 
The Group has capitalised significant exploration and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that this is 
expected to be recouped through future successful development (or alternatively sale) of the Areas of 
Interest concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to assess whether it will be recouped. 
 
As at 31 December 2010, the carrying value of capitalised exploration expenditure is $777,343. 

 
ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
 The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often based on estimates and assumptions of 

future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period 
are: 

 
 Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 
  
 The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number 

of factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it 
successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.  
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27 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS continued 

 Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future 
technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes (including 
changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

 
Based on this, the Group has determined an impairment expense of $1,380,162 has arisen in relation to the 
Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure capitalised in the financial statements relating to the Lake 
Disappointment and Yalbalgo tenements, and to the monies owed to the parent by its subsidiary. 

 

28 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 
 

Summary Financial Information 
 

  Parent 

Financial Position 
 2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Assets    
Current assets  6,756,149 7,098,755 
Non-current assets  34,724 40,851 
    

Total assets  6,790,873 7,139,606 

    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities  198,553 154,716 
    
Total liabilities  198,553 154,716 

    
Equity    
Issued capital  10,940,464 10,940,464 
Reserves  226,350 226,350 
Accumulated losses  (4,574,494) (4,181,924) 
    
Total equity  (6,592,320) 6,984,890 

 
Financial Performance 
Loss for the year  (392,570) (1,627,697) 
Other comprehensive income  - - 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (392,570) (1,627,697) 
 

b)  Guarantees 
Reward Minerals Ltd has not entered into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiary. 
 
c)  Other Commitments and Contingencies 
Reward Minerals Ltd has no commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment, and has no contingent 
liabilities at reporting date. 
 

29 Company Details 
The registered office of the Company is: 
 
Reward Minerals Limited 
159 Stirling Highway 
NEDLANDS  WA  6009 
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1        SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AS AT 24 MARCH 2011 
 

1a Spread of Holdings Number of   

  Shareholders   
 1 - 1,000 227   
 1,001 - 5,000 486   
 5,001 - 10,000 264   
 10,001 - 100,000 376   
 100,001 & Over 83   
     
  1,436   

     
     

1c Substantial Shareholders Number of  Percentage of 
  Ordinary Shares  Capital Held 
 Tyson Resources Ltd 10,508,057  15.46% 
 Kesli Chemicals Ltd 7,305,775  10.75% 
 Intermin Resources Ltd 6,351,943  9.35% 
 

1d Directors’ Shareholdings 
 
 Shares Held by Companies 
 Held in which Directors 
 Directly have a beneficial 
  interest 

 

Geoffrey E Lambert  520,000 660,000 
Colin McCavana  210,000 20,000 
*Michael Ruane  356,515 18,671,637 
Cyrille J Van Heyst  - 919,006 
William P Brooks  71,500 3,450,551 

 
* Michael Ruane is also a Director of Intermin Resources Ltd which holds 6,351,943 shares in the Company.  
Michael Ruane is also the Director of Tyson Resources Pty Ltd and Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd. 
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1e The names of the twenty largest shareholders as at 24 March 2011, who between them held 60.22% of the 

issued capital are listed below: 
 

 
 

Number of Ordinary 
Shares % 

1 Tyson Resources Ltd 10,508,057 15.46 

2 Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd <Ruane S/F A/C> 7,305,775 10.75 

3 Intermin Resources Ltd 6,351,943 9.35 

4 Bill Brooks Pty Ltd <Bill Brooks Family A/C> 2,447,129 3.60 

5 Franway Pty Ltd <Kennedy Family S/F A/C> 1,782,914 2.62 

6 UBS Wealth Management 1,713,085 2.52 

7 Bill Brooks Pty Ltd <Bill Brooks S/F A/C> 1,003,422 1.48 

8 Mr Gregory Rolland Cunnold 1,000,000 1.47 

9 Dr Julian FH Barnes & Mrs Mihaela M Barnes <Barnes S/F A/C> 1,000,000 1.47 

10 Mr Gregory R Cunnold & Ms Lara C Groves <Stratford A/c> 1,000,000 1.47 

11 Mercator Capital Services <Mercator S/F A/C> 869,006 1.28 

12 Mr Brian Leonard 826,962 1.22 

13 Dr Richard Sallie 755,563 1.11 

14 Kesli Chemicals Pty Ltd  627,805 0.92 

15 Deponent Services Pty Ltd <Lambert S/F A/C> 595,000 0.88 

16 Villasor Holdings Pty Ltd 523,000 0.77 

17 Geoffrey Lambert 520,000 0.77 

18 Sheraton Trial Pty Ltd <Bartlett S/F A/C> 500,000 0.74 

19 L McKinnell & U Fogliani <C&L Fogliani S/F A/C> 456,481 0.67 

20 Mikael MacDougall Pty Ltd <S/F A/C> 400,000 0.59 

  40,186,142 59.14 
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